IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 78,462

TIMOTHY CURTIS HUDSON,

Appellant,

٧,

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING
Capital Col ateral Representative
Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. McCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

KEN D. DRIGGS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 304700

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
1533 South Monroe Street
Tallahaseee, Florida 32301
(904) 487-4376

Counael for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

In the early morning hours of June 17, 1986, Mollie Ewinga waa atabbad to death in her Tampa home,

Ms. Ewings' roommate, Becky Collins, had recently been living with and was engaged to marry the defendant, Nr. Tim Hudoon. Their relationship broke down over Mr. Hudson's addiction to crack cocaine (PC-R. 145-151). Me. Colline observed that cocaine made Mr. Hudson, normally a courteoue man towards her, hostile and quick to anger (R. 260). The victim knew Mr. Hudson through Me. Collins, and he had often been a guest in her home (PC-R. 914). There were no indications of animoeity between them, but the victim apparently knew of threats which resulted in Ma. Collins spending the night elsewhere (PC-R. 246-252).

On the evening of the murder Mr. Hudeon used cocaine with his cousins, Anthony and Gerald Bembow, who were also heavy drug users. Their residence was a short walk from the victim's home (PC-R. 354). After leaving their residence, he went to the victim's home. Upon hie entering the house, the victim recognized and confronted Mr. Hudaon. She apparently began screaming at him to leave, and Mr. Hudson atabbed her four times in an attempt to quiet her. Hudaon v. State, 538 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1989). The victim died within two minutes and was likely unconscioue as quickly as 20 seconds after the first wound (R. 290-96, 308). Mr. Hudson placed her body in the trunk of her car, then drove to purchaee and use more crack cocaine (R. 349-50; PC-R. 215). He later disposed of the body and the car.

Mr. Hudson was arrested the next day. On June 18 and 19, 1986, he gradually confessed hin full involvement with the murder to police, having waived any opportunity to speak to counsel first (R. 646-701). On the 19th he was induced to confeee through interrogation known am the "Christian burial technique" which this court disapproved. Hudson, 538 So. 2d at 830. Mr. Hudson was crying, eick to his stomach, and visibly upset when he lead police to the body (R. 349).

а

On June 25, 1986, Mr. Hudson Was indicted for first degree murder, armed burglary, and grand theft (R. 769-770). The public defender waa appointed to represent him on June 27, 1986, (R. 777). Am discovery unfolded the state listed both Anthony and Gerald Bembow am proceetion witnesses. Gerald Bembow had been represented by the public defender in the recent past (R. 4-8). Based on this conflict trial counsel filed a Motion to Withdraw alleging that they were otherwise placed in a position of violating the Rules of Professional Conduct for attorneys (R. 796). The motion wan heard and denied three days before trial (R. 635-640). The Bembow's testimony was not investigated by trial counsel and neither was called to the stand because of the conflict. The trial was set to begin on January 26, 1987, but counsel did not arrange for a mental health evaluation to begin until January 8, 1987, and failed to provide their psychologist with any significant background material on Mr. Hudeon (PC-R. 229-230, 239 and 246). The circuit court found counsel's performance deficient in this regard and held that the jury wae precluded from hearing mitigation as a result.

Becky Collins, a key state witness and Mr. Hudson's former fiancee with whom he had recently lived, was not deponed by trial counsel until January 12, 1987, two weeks before trial (PC-R. 905-923). In that deposition Me. Collins diecueaed Mr. Hudson's increasing crack addiction and escalating violent behavior under the influence of crack (PC-R. 911-914). Trial counsel failed to utilize this information in any way. Again this was found to be deficient performance.

A0 the trial date approached Mr. Hudeon became increasingly anxious about hi0 attorney's lack of preparation and about a conflict of interest arising out of the public defender's representing Gerald Bembow. On December 8, 1986, he executed a pro se motion for reappointment of counsel (R. 794). On the day of trial, January 26, 1987, he finally insisted that he be heard by the trial court:

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Hudeon, go ahead.

THE DEFENDANT: I would like to state a verbal ineffective assistance of counsel, I feel my present attorney hasn't taked

enough time to investigate my case properly. Due to the
seriousness and my life is in jeopardy in this case, I feel more
time is needed to prepare a good defense for me, sir.

THE COURT! What do you base your otatement on, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: I don't feel Mr. Stone is capable enough of handling my trial.

THE COURT: You say, well, in your otatement you said you don't feel like he had spent the time invemtigating your case properly.

THE DEFENDANT: True enough. But

THE COURT: All right, air. I am aeking You, what do you base that on? You must have eome **facts** that you base that statement an.

THE DEFENDANT: Well, two weeks ago he came by and talked to me, aay he is going to send an investigator out to investigate, you know, more and more on this case.

THE COURT: And?

THE DEFENDANT: And it was never done.

THE COURT: Anything else on which you baee your statements, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yea, air. I have filed a motion December 5 €or dismissal of counsel. I haven't heard nothing on it, Your Honor. And I wanted to say something about dismissal of counsel, last Friday. I noticed the Public Defender represented Bembo against me, I mean, represented Bembo in the past. And the state wanta to use him against me, and I wanted to know why the motion for dismissal of counsel was denied?

(R. 5-6) (emphasis added). The trial court diomiooed Mr. Hudson's concerns am those held by every defendant and refused to either continue the trial or appoint another attorney (R. 7-8).

At his trial Mr. Hudson's counsel told the jury during opening argument what the theory of defense was going to be:

The evidence will show that Timothy Hudeon has mental problem. Timothy Hudson suffers from paranoid echizophrenia. And he har for some time. This does not mean that Timothy Hudson is insane. Timothy Hudson is not insane.

What it does mean is that Timothy Hudson ouffera from mental defect that causes him to lose the ability to underetand and reason accurately. What it does mean is that Timothy Hudson has a leeeened capability for making rational choicer and directing his own behavior. What it means is that Timothy Hudson lacked the mental capacity to form the specific infant necessary to be au of first degree premeditated murder.

The evidence will show that Timothy Hudeon is guilty of second-degree murder. The evidence will show that Timothy Hudeon killed Mollie Ewinga by an act imminently dangeroum to another, wincing a depraved mind regardless of human life. That, ladiee and gentlemen, is eeeond-degree murder.

To be guilty of second-degree murder, one does not have to have the ability to form a specific intent to kill someone.

Defense Opening Statement (R. 236-237) (emphasis added).

At the conclusion of the guilt phase trial eounael failed to insure that the charge conference was recorded (R. 431-432). There was a discussion on the record about a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication.

MR. BENITO: I will acquiescence to go that teetimony baaed on the testimony (sic) of Doctor Berland as far a0 this man's mental condition. I don' es to ar u intoxication in this particular caee

svidence presented either through the cross-examination of the state's witnesses or the doctor that thie man. Timothy Hudson, was under the influence of any alcohol or druge at the time he committed thie crime and if Mr. Stone, I believe, were to argue that in hie closing argument, I may have to stand up, which I do not like to do, and object in his closing argument that he is arguing facta not in evidence.

THE COURT: Mr. Stone?

MR. STONE: Judge, <u>if I had thought that the evidence was</u> such that I could get an involuntary intoxication inatruction. I would have had one of those proposed.

THE COURT: You are not going to be arguing intoxication?

MR. STONE: I will not, I will not be arguing voluntary intoxication. I don't know whether in my closing argument I am not going to make any reference to the fact he had a drug problem, but it won't be, I won't be raying that he was too intoxicated to form the intent.

MR. BENITO: That is fine.

(R. 438-439) (emphasis added).

The jury was instructed on lesser included offenses which do not require specific intent (R. 473-481) as well am:

Impairment of the mental faculties does not excuse or justify the commission of a crime. But euch impairment may exist to euch an extent that an individual is incapable of forming an intent to commit a crime, thereby rendering such person incapable of committing a crime of which specific intent is an easential element. When the evidence tende to establish such an impairment, the burden is upon the State to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was able to form and entertain the intent, which is an essential element of the crime.

Impairment of the mental faculties which does not go to the extend of making a person incapable of forming the intent, which is an essential element of a crime, does not reduce the gravity of the offrnee.

(R. 482).

Thr trial wae brief and Mr. Hudson was convicted as charged. On February 6, 1987, Mr. Hudson was eentenced to death (R. 725-732).

On direct appeal this court affirmed the convictions. Of the guilt phase claims this court commented only on the denial of a defense motion to supprese. The opinion expressly disapproved of the "christian burial technique" of interrogation as "a blatantly coercive and deceptive ploy" and "police overreaching or coercive police conduct," but found the confession still voluntary. Hudson, 538 So. 2d at 830.

As to the imposition of the death penalty this court divided 4-3 on a proportionality review, The majority opinion auggeeted Mr. Hudson's situation was "arguably a cloer call," <u>Hudson</u>, 538 So. 2d at 832. A dissent distinguished Mr. Hudson's eituation from that of the worst offendera deemed worthy of the death penalty:

BARKETT, Justice, concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I concur as to guilt and dissent as to sentencing. In hie sentencing order, the trial judge made the following findings:

The facts of the case, as produced by the evidence, indicate that the defendant, TIMOTHY CURTIS HUDSON, was apparently surprised by the victim during the defendant's burglarizing of the home owned by the victim and ehared with the defendant's ex-girlfriend....

The extensive testing done by Dr. Berland on the defendant, together with the circumstances of the surprise of the defendant during the burglary when confronted by the victim, convinces the Court that at the time of the killing and €or at least a short period thereafter, the defendant was unable, to a certain extent, to conform his conduct to the requirements of law....

In light of our prior case law, I cannot conclude that the death penalty is proportionate under these facts. As was stated in the seminal came of State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 7 (Fla.1973), the death penalty is reserved "to only the most aggravated and unmitigated of most serious crimes." In light of the trial judge's explicit findings, I conclude that the murder in this case is not within the category of crimes described in Dixon.

KOGAN, J., concurs.

Hudson, 538 So. 26 at 832-33.

The United States Supreme Court later denied certiorari. <u>Hudson v.</u>
Florida, 110 8. Ct. 212 (1989).

On September 7, 1990, Governor Martinez accelerated Rule 3.850 by signing a death warrant eight month8 early (PC-R. 474). Poet conviction counsel was given until October 19, 1990, to file pleadings, the extension of time in recognition of the extraordinary load placed on the office as a result of multiple death warrants, many triggering the provisions of Rule 3.851. pleadings laid out eight claims: (I) a conflict of interest based on the public defender's precentation of both Mr. Hudaon and Gerald Bembow; (II) ineffective assistance of counsel based on a failure to develop evidence in support of an involuntary intoxication defense; (III) ineffective assistance of counsel during penalty phase; (IV) ineffective assistance of counsel through a failure to develop a competent mental health evaluation; (V) ineffective agaietance of counsel through a failure to insure a fair and impartial jury; (VI) the trial court's failure to find and consider mitigation presented at trial; (VII) improper burden shifting by the penalty phase jury inatructiono; and (VIII) the use of unconstitutional automatic aggravating factor8 to arrive at the death sentence (PC-R. 493-594). The trial court atayed execution on October 24, 1990 (PC-R. 599-600). The State filed a response (PC-R. 606-617). An evidentiary hearing waa set for December 12-14, 1990, on the first four claims and any that related to ineffective assistance of couneel.

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Hudson presented nine witnesses in the following order: trial co-counsel John Conrad; Mr. Hudson's former fiancee Becky Collins; hi0 sister Debra Hudson; trial co-counsel Raybun Stone: forensic psychologist Dr. Bob Berland; Anthony and Gerald Bembow; his father Daniel Hudson; and psychiatrist Dr. Peter Macaluso. Dr. Berland and Daniel Hudson had previously testified ae defense witnesses, while Mr. Collins was a prosecution witness at trial. The State presented no testimony at the poet conviction hearing

Trial counsel testified, among other things, that they devised a defenae of diminished capacity which aought to avoid a voluntary intoxication defense based on <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1984), a voluntary intoxication came (R. 246-237; PC-R. 200, 219, 220-223). They further testified that they coneidered Gerald Bembow brothers to be "a harmful etate witness" (PC-R. 229-230). However, they never depoaed, inveatigated, or took any atepm to determine what the brothers knew about the case (PC-R. 230-232).

Mr. Hudson's former fiancee, Me. Colline, testified that with his growing crack addiction he lost interest in work, began to exhibit mental problems, became irrational, physically violent, and that him whole personality changed €or the worae. She had not been asked to testify to throe things by the defence at trial. The Be-nbow brothere, neither of whom were asked to testify at trial, testified to Mr. Hudson's using crack with them, his growing need €or crack, and its severe, long lasting effect on him. Both were with Mr. Hudson the night of the murder and observed the same things at that time. Debra Hudson, his sister, testified to her observing his growing crack ure in 1986 when he became paranoid and violent, lost all interest in caring for himself, and left "crack cans" at the residence they chared. Mr. Hudson had borrowed money from her the day of the murder to buy more crack. Me. Hudeon had also not been called to testify at the trial, nor had che ever been contacted by his defence team.

A defense peychologist had been retained for trial on January 6, 1987 (PC-R. 201, 260-261) for a trial that began on January 26 where what amounted to a voluntary intoxication defanae wae announced (R. 236-237). The psychologist, Dr. Bob Berland, teatified at the evidentiary hearing below that he needed more time to do an adequate evaluation (PC-R 260, 262):

Q. Ie three weeks adequate time in your opinion to put together a capital case and in this came, a guilt phase defense and a penalty phase defense?

* * *

A. No, that is ineufficient. Cuetomarily, I have needed to do testing and interview with the defendant. I need to look through documents, I need to track down and talk to lay witnesses. Typically need to brief the attorney. And that, unfortunately,

taken a fair amount of time. And three weeks would normally not suffice. I wouldn't take a case normally under those kind of constraints.

(PC-R. 261-262). **Dr.** Berland was not provided any background materials on Mr. Hudson (PC-R 262-263, 272-273, 276-277). In particular, Dr. Berland was not given materiala about Mr. Hudson's serious cocaine addiction (PC-R 263). Had he been provided anything on this issue, he testified that it would have prompted hie wanting more because psychoactive drugs, particularly cocaine, tend to exacerbate psychotic systems (PC-R 266). At the evidentiary hearing Dr. Berland observed cocaine use by a person with Mr. Hudson's other mental disorders results in "somebody who is going to be eeverely disturbed and with relatively few controls over his behavior" (PC-R 283-284). Having been provided this additional background material Dr. Berland concluded that Mr. Hudson was "a lot more aeverely mentally disturbed than I had, at thr time of the offense, than I had underatood him to be" (PC-R 287). He saw no evidence the defendant was malingering (PC-R 298).

The last of Mr. Hudson's post-conviction witnesses wan Dr. Peter Macaluso, an expert in addiction medicine (PC-R. 400-402). In his examination and evaluation of Mr. Hudson he relied upon background materials and witness interviews supplied by poat-conviction counsel but neglected by trial counsel. He told the trial court below of Mr. Hudson's severe cocaine intoxication and its effect on hi0 ability to form specific intent:

- Q. Mr. Hudson's disease of chemical dependency, how advanced was it by the time of the crime in this case, which would have been June of 19861
- A. Mr. Hudson, by the time you mentioned was consuming massive amounts of cocaine along with other drugs, mainly marijuana and alcohol and often times heroin. Hie cocaine addiction was to such a extent where he would use what is termed as a slab per day, which is about a hundred to two hundred hits of cocaine. This is advanced addiction to cocaine, producing toxic affects, toxic peychoais, if you would, meaning that the levele of cocaine was to such an extent where hie ability to perceive and interact with his environment were grossly impaired. His ability to reason, to process information were groaely impaired. And these effecte would produce what we term a toxic psychotic state. Cocaine peychosie. The prolonged effecte produced was termed organic brain syndrome, inability to remember, to process information.
 - Q. In layman's term, damage to the brain?

A. Brain damage. That's, that's correct. (PC-R. 410-411).

After allowing for transcription of post-conviction testimony, post hearing memoranda (PC-R. 636-735), and oral argument the trial court on July 23, 1991, denied guilt phase relief, granted a new jury sentencing, but refused to impose a life sentence.

Cross appeal8 timely followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- I. Gerald Bembow was listed by the State ae a person with material and relevant information regarding the charged offenes. Mr. Hudson's trial counsel advised the trial court and Mr. Hudeon that counsel had previoumly represented Gerald Bembow and that counsel was burdened with a conflict. Mr. Hudeon did not waive the conflict, and in fact, aeked to have counsel removed. The trial court denied the request. The State then chose not to preaent Gerald Bembow as a witness. However, defense counsel, because of his conflict, never spoke to Gerald Bembow and never learned what relevant information he poaaeeeed. Ae a result, Mr. Hudson was denied conflict free representation and deprived of the benefit of exculpatory evidence. A new trial must be ordered.
- 11. Counael unreasonably failed to investigate Mr. Hudson's drug usage and how it could be used as a defense at the guilt phase of his trial. Ample evidence was available and could have been used in an effort to convince the jury to convict of the lesser offense, second degree murder. As a result, Mr. Hudeon was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance.
- III. Trial counsel failed to obtain a timely and adequate mental health evaluation of Mr. Hudson. Had counsel performed reasonably, mental health testimony eupporting a voluntary intoxication defense would have been available. This testimony would have resulted in a eecond degree murder conviction; at the very least confidence is undermined in the reliability of the verdict in the absence of the available expert opinion. Accordingly, a new trial must be ordered.

The circuit court ruled that penalty phase counsel's performance was deficient, and that, a0 a result, a wealth of mitigating evidence was not presented to the jury nor in the direct appeal record. The circuit court, accordingly, granted a new penalty phase proceeding. However, the circuit court should have gone further and simply imposed a life sentence. This is because, had the additional mitigating evidence been contained in the record on direct appeal, this Court would have imposed a life sentence in the course of its proportionality review. Accordingly, this Court should order a life sentence imposed now.

ARGUMENT I

MR. HUDSON WAS DENIED HIS FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS BECAUSE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER'S OFFICE'S CONFLICT OF INTEREST.

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