## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,462

TIMOTHY CURTIS HUDSON,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY

# ANSWER BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLEE AND REPLY BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM **\$PALDING**Capital Collateral Representative
Florida Bar No. 0125540

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

KENNETH D. DRIGGS Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 304700

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

Counsel for Appellant/Cross Appellee

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

A.	Yes.
Q.	With the children?
A.	Yes.
Q.	With all the children?
A.	Yes.
Q. or alcohol?	In fact, Timothy is not the only son that has had a problem with drugs
A.	No.
Q.	Lorenzo, also?
A.	Yes.
Q.	And Larry?
A.	Larry.
Q.	What was your wife drinking?
A.	At first?
Q.	Yes.
	I think started off with beer. And then it progressed right on down to nink that is what she drink now. Vodka.
Q.	Her drinking is quite constant?
A.	It is constant, as far as I can see. I am not there every day. But
Q.	Right.
A.	When I do see it, it's constant.
Q.	Did you notice your divorce affected Timothy in any way?
A.	Yes, I think it did. I am quite sure it did. It affected all the children.
Q.	Why do you say Timothy, in particular?
know. <b>I</b> m baseball ga	Because Timmy and I would, well, we was kind of tight, I call it, you ean, we was together as much as we could be. I would go to his mes, not football games but baseball, what not. And we would talk He would want to know why I didn't stay with them, you know.
	38

Q. She had problems once you left the house?

Questions like that, And "Are you going to come back home and be with us?" Things like that.

And I just know he was upset because I was upset for twenty years because I hadn't seen my father. He never done things with me, carried me places. So I knew it was an upset to him, you know.

(PC-R. 384, 386-90). In the context of all these family problems the father testified that Mr. Hudson first went to "jail" at age 17 (PC-R. 394).

Mr. Hudson's trial counsel failed him, The circuit court correctly found deficient performance. As a result, a wealth of significant mitigating evidence which was available and which should have been presented was not presented. No tactical motive can be ascribed to an attorney whose omissions are based on last minute preparation, lack of knowledge, and an the failure to properly investigate and prepare. <u>Bates: Lara; Mitchell</u>. Mr. Hudson's sentence of death is the resulting prejudice:

The primary purpose of the penalty phase is to insure that the sentence is individualized by focusing the particularized characteristics of the defendant. Armstrong, 833 F.2d at 1433 (citing Eddinas v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 112, 102 S. Ct. 869, 875, 72 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982)). By failing to provide such evidence to the jury, though readily available, trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Cunningham's ability to receive an individualized sentence. See Stephens, 846 F.2d at 653-55; Armstrong, 833 F.2d at 1433-34.

# Cunningham, 928 F.2d at 1016.

a

a

Proper investigation and preparation would have resulted in evidence establishing a compelling case for life on behalf of Mr. Hudson. A wealth of mitigating information was available to trial counsel in this case. Mr. Hudson, however, was sentenced to death by a jury, a judge, and this Court (on direct appeal) without the fruits of a thorough investigation. This was far from an individualized capital sentencing proceeding.

Evidence of Mr. Hudson's dysfunctional family, his mental and emotional deficiencies, and his history of cocaine abuse all would have provided compelling statutory and nonstatutory mitigation sufficient to support a recommendation of life. See Ross v. State, 474 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1985); Holswarth v. State, 522 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 1988); Burch v. State, 522 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1988); Amazon v. State, 487 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1986); Cheshire v. State, 568 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1990). This record clearly

supports the circuit court's awarding of penalty phase relief. This Court must affirm the decision to vacate the death sentence. However, as set out in Argument IV, this Court should order a life sentence imposed.

#### **ARGUMENT VI**

MR. HUDSON WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY WHEN THE TRIAL COURT REFUSED TO EXCUSE JURORS FOR CAUSE WHEN THEY INDICATED THEY WOULD AUTOMATICALLY VOTE FOR DEATH.

Here, jurors indicated they would automatically vote for death if Mr. Hudson was convicted of first degree murder. Prospective juror Seamon expressed strong feelings about the death penalty, saying it should be imposed with every conviction for premeditated murder (R. 75). When the trial court refused to excuse Seamon for cause (R. 79) counsel was forced to use a peremptory challenge (R. 80). Prospective juror Mortello likewise drew a peremptory challenge from Hudson's trial counsel (R. 99-121, 123).

But inexplicably, trial counsel failed to challenge juror Fowler who expressed strong feelings in favor of the death penalty:

# [DEFENSE COUNSEL]

- **Q.** Do either of you have any strong feelings about the death penalty? Mr. Wofford?
  - A. No, I have no strong feelings about it.
  - Q. Ms. Fowler?

m

- A. I believe in it, I feel more strongly about carrying out the sentence than I do the sentence itself.
- (R. 177). Mr. Hudson's trial counsel completely failed to follow up that exchange in any way whatsoever. Counsel unreasonably failed to question juror Fowler further. There was no challenge for cause and no peremptory challenge. Thus, juror Fowler was selected almost by default as the twelfth member of the panel (R. 179). Further compounding the result of this ineffective representation, juror fowler became the foreperson (R. 496-500).

The United States Supreme Court has recently held:

A juror who will automatically vote for the death penalty in every case will fail in good faith to consider the evidence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances as the instructions as the instructions require him to do. Indeed, because such a juror has already formed an opinion on the merits, the presence of absence of either aggravating or mitigating circumstances is entirely irrelevant to such a juror, Therefore, based on the requirement of impartiality embodied in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, a capital defendant may challenge for cause any prospective juror who maintains such views. If even one such juror is empaneled and the death sentence is imposed, the State is disentitled to execute the sentence.

### Morgan v. Illinois, 112 S. Ct. 2222, 2231 (1992).

Counsel have been found to be prejudicially ineffective for failing to impeach key State witnesses with available evidence; for failing to raise objections, to move to strike, or to seek limiting instructions regarding inadmissible, prejudicial testimony, <u>Vela v. Estelle</u>, 708 F.2d 954, 961-66 (5th Cir. 1983); for failing to object to improper prosecutorial jury argument, <u>Vela</u>, 708 F.2d at 963; and for failing to interview witnesses who may have provided evidence in support of a partial defense, <u>Chambers v. Armontrout</u>.

Even if counsel provides effective assistance at trial in some areas, the defendant is entitled to relief if counsel renders ineffective assistance in his or her performance in other portions of the trial. Washinaton v. Watkins, 655 F.2d 1346, 1355, rehearins denied with opinion, 662 F.2d 1116 (5th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 949 (1982). See also Kimmelman v. Morrison, 106 S. Ct. 2574 (1986). Even a single error by counsel may be sufficient to warrant relief. Nelson v. Estelle, 642 F.2d 903, 906 (5th Cir. 1981)(counsel may be held to be ineffective due to single error where the basis of the error is of constitutional dimension); Nero v. Blackburn, 597 F.2d at 994 ("sometimes a single error is so substantial that it alone causes the attorney's assistance to fall below the Sixth Amendment standard"); Strickland v. Washington, supra; Kimmelman v. Morrison, supra.

Such is the case here. Mr. Hudson is entitled to 3.850 relief from his trial counsel's ineffective representation during jury selection. A resentencing must be ordered.

#### **ARGUMENT VII**

MR. HUDSON'S DEATH SENTENCE WAS THE PRODUCT OF CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND THE IMPROPER APPLICATION OF STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN VIOLATION OF HIS EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Mr. Hudson's jury failed to receive complete and accurate instructions defining the aggravating circumstances in a constitutionally narrow fashion. The jury was told to consider aggravating factors that failed to narrow and channel discretion. As a result, the jury was given unbridled discretion to return a death recommendation. Specifically relying upon the tainted death recommendation, the judge sentenced Mr. Hudson to death,

Mr. Hudson was charged with first-degree murder: "Murder from a premeditated design to effect the death of" the victim in violation of Florida Statute 782.04. An indictment such as this which "tracked the statute" charges both premeditated and felony murder. Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380, 384 (Fla. 1983). In this case, it is likely that Mr. Hudson was convicted on the basis of felony murder. Since felony murder was the basis of Mr. Hudson's conviction, the use of the underlying felony as an aggravating factor violated the Eighth Amendment. This is because the aggravating circumstance of "in the course of a felony" was not "a means of genuinely removing the class of death-eligible persons and thereby channeling the jury's discretion." Stringer v. Black, 112 S. Ct. 1130, 1138 (1992). In this case, felony murder was found as a statutory aggravating circumstance. The murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a burglary or robbery. Unlike the situation in Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988), the narrowing function did not occur at the guilt phase, Thus, the use of this non-narrowing aggravating factor "create[d] the possibility not only of randomness but of bias in favor of the death penalty." Strinner, 112 S. Ct. at 1139.

The sentencing jury was instructed that it "must" consider the underlying felony as an aggravating circumstance which justified a death sentence. Every felony-murder would involve, by necessity, the finding of a statutory aggravating circumstance, a fact which, under the particulars of Florida's statute, violates the eighth amendment: an automatic aggravating circumstance is

а

а

created which does not narrow ("[A]n aggravating circumstance must genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty . . . . " Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 876 (1983)).

"[L]imiting the sentencer's discretion in imposing the death penalty is a fundamental constitutional requirement for sufficiently minimizing the risk of wholly arbitrary and capricious action." Mavnard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356, 362 (1988). In short, since Mr. Hudson was convicted for felony murder, he then faced statutory aggravation for felony murder. This is too circular a system to meaningfully differentiate between who should live and who should die, and it violate the Eighth and Fourteenth amendments.

Recently the Wyoming Supreme Court addressed this issue. The Court in Enabern v.

Mever, 820 P.2d 70 (Wyo. 1991) found the use of an underlying felony both as an element of first degree murder and as an aggravating circumstance to violate the eight amendment:

In this case, the enhancing effect of the underlying felony (robbery) provided two of the aggravating circumstances which led to Engberg's death sentence: (1) murder during commission of a felony, and (2) murder for pecuniary gain. As a result, the underlying robbery was used not once but *three* times to convict and then enhance the seriousness of Engberg's crime to a death sentence. *All* felony murders involving robbery, by definition, contain at least the two aggravating circumstances detailed above. This places the felony murder defendant in a worse position that the defendant convicted of premeditated murder, simply because his crime was committed in conjunction with another felony. This is an arbitrary and capricious classification, in violation of the *Furman/Gregg* narrowing requirement.

Additionally, we find a further *Furman/Gregg* problem because both aggravating factors overlap in that they refer to the same aspect of the defendant's crime of robbery. While it is true that the jury's analysis in capital sentencing is to be qualitative rather than a quantitative weighing of aggravating factors merely because the underlying felony was robbery, rather than some other felony. The mere finding of an aggravating circumstance implies a qualitative value as to that circumstance. The qualitative value of an aggravating circumstance is unjustly enhanced when the same underlying fact is used to create multiple aggravating factors.

a

When an element of felony murder is itself listed as an aggravating circumstance, the requirement in W.S. 6-5-102 that at least one "aggravating circumstance" be found for a death sentence becomes meaningless. *Black's Law Dictionary*, 60 (5th ed. 1979) defines "aggravation" as follows:

"Any circumstance attending the commission of a crime or tort which increases its guilt or enormity or adds to its injurious consequences. but which is above and beyond the essential constituents of the crime or fort itself." (emphasis added)

As used in the statute. these factors do not fit the definition of "aggravation." The aggravating factors of pecuniary gain and commission of a felony do not serve the purpose of narrowing the class of persons to be sentenced to death, and the *Furman/Gregg* weeding-out process fails.

820 P 2d at 89-90.

Wyoming, like Florida, provides that narrowing occur at the penalty phase. **See Stringer v.**Black. The use of the "in the course of a felony" aggravating circumstance was unconstitutional where the conviction was for felony murder. As the Ensberg court held:

[W]here an underlying felony is used to convict a defendant of felony murder only, elements of the underlying felony may not again be used as an aggravating factor in the sentencing phase. We acknowledge the jury's finding of other aggravating circumstances in this case. We cannot know, however, what effect the felony murder, robbery and pecuniary gain aggravating circumstances found had in the weighing process and in the jury's final determination that death was appropriate.

820 P.2d at 92.

This error cannot be harmless in this case.

[W]hen the sentencing body is told to weigh an invalid factor in its decision, a reviewing court may not assume it would have made no difference if the thumb had been removed from death's side of the scale. When the weighing process itself has been skewed, only constitutional harmless-error analysis or reweighing at the trial or appellate level suffices to guarantee that the defendant received an individualized sentence.

Strinser, 112 S. Ct. at 1137.

Here, the jury was instructed to consider this aggravating circumstance. There is no way at this juncture to know what a properly instructed jury would have done, particularly in light of the wealth of mitigation. Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S. Ct. 2926 (1992), held that Florida sentencing juries must be accurately and correctly instructed regarding aggravating circumstances in compliance with the eighth amendment. The jury instructions here constitutes Eighth Amendment error.

Where improper aggravating circumstances are weighed by the jury, "the scale is more likely to tip in favor of a recommended sentence of death." Valle v. State, 502 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1987). "A vague aggravating factor used in the weighing process is in a sense worse, for it creates the risk that the jury will treat the defendant as more deserving of the death penalty than

he might otherwise be by relying upon the existence of an illusory circumstance." <u>Strinaer v. Black</u>, 112 S. Ct. at 1139. The jury, here, was left with the open-ended discretion found to be invalid in <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), and <u>Mavnard v. Cartwriaht</u>. The error cannot be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### **ARGUMENT VIII**

THE TRIAL COURT'S UNCONSTITUTIONAL SHIFTING OF THE BURDEN OF PROOF IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS AT SENTENCING DEPRIVED MR. HUDSON OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW. AS WELL AS HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

A capital sentencing jury must be:

[T]old that the state must establish the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances before the death penalty could be imposed ...

[\$]uch a sentence could be given <u>if the state showed the aggravating</u> circumstances outweighed the mitiaatins circumstances.

State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973) (emphasis added). This straightforward standard was never applied at the penalty phase of Mr. Hudson's capital proceedings. To the contrary, the burden was shifted to Mr. Hudson on the question of whether he should live or die.

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